# IAPMO PP-1:2018

Policies and Procedures for Consensus
Development of
American National
Standards



# IAPMO PP-1:2018

# Policies and Procedures for Consensus Development of American National Standards

Published: October 2018

Previous Editions: June 2018, September 2016, January 2015, July 2014, June 2013, August 2012, May

2011, March 2005

Published by

# **International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials (IAPMO)**

4775 East Philadelphia Street, Ontario, California, 91761, USA 1-800-854-2766 • 1-909-472-4100

Visit the IAPMO Online Store at: www.IAPMOstore.org

Visit the IAPMO Standards website at: www.IAPMOstandards.org

Copyright © 2005-2018 by International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials (IAPMO) All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form, in an electronic retrieval system or otherwise, without prior written permission of the publisher.

Printed in the United States of America

# **Contents**

4	•	nera	
1	uei	ıcıa	

- 1.1 American National Standards Developer Accreditation
- 1.2 Administration
- 1.3 Maintenance of Standards

# 2 Organization of Standards Committees

- 2.1 Standards Committees
- 2.2 Secretariat
- 2.3 Official Records
- 2.4 Executive Standards Committee
- 2.5 Correspondence

# 3 Membership

- 3.1 General
- 3.2 Applications and Appointments
- 3.3 Interest Categories
- 3.4 Balance of Representation
- 3.5 Standards Committee Officers
- 3.6 Size of Standards Committees
- 3.7 Participation
- 3.8 Alternates
- 3.9 Representation of Organizations
- 3.10 Ongoing Maintenance and Reporting
- 3.11 Termination of Membership
- 3.12 Changes in Employment or Affiliation
- 3.13 Subcommittees and Task Groups

# 4 Meetings

- 4.1 Notification
- 4.2 Guests (Open Meetings)
- 4.3 Executive Sessions
- 4.4 Quorum
- 4.5 Parliamentary Procedures

#### 5 Notifications and Public Review

- 5.1 Notifications of Standards Activities
- 5.2 Processing of Public Review Comments

# **6** Voting Procedures

- 6.1 Ballots
- 6.2 Voting
- 6.3 Voting Period

- 6.4 Numerical Criteria for Approvals
- 6.5 Ballot Records and Vote Changes
- 6.6 Negative Votes
- 6.7 Comments Accompanying Affirmative Votes and Abstentions
- 6.8 Late Votes

# 7 Interpretations

- 7.1 Definition
- 7.2 Processing Interpretations
- 7.3 Accepting Requests for Interpretation
- 7.4 Notification of Interpretations

# 8 Appeals (Dispute Resolution)

- 8.1 Process
- 8.2 Response
- 8.3 Appeals Panel
- 8.4 Conduct of the Hearing
- 8.5 Decision

# 9. Commercial, Antitrust, Metric, and Patent Policies

- 9.1 Antitrust Policy
- 9.2 Commercial Terms and Conditions
- 9.3 Patent Policy
- 9.4 Metric Policy

#### 10 Coordination and Harmonization

- 10.1 Reference
- 10.2 Definition of Conflict
- 10.3 Standards Committees and ANSI

# 11 Revisions to IAPMO Policies and Procedures

- 11.1 Proposals
- 11.2 Approval and Implementation

October 2018 ii

# IAPMO PP-1:2018 Policies and Procedures for Consensus Development of American National Standards

# 0. Scope

#### 0.1

This IAPMO document, together with the ANSI Essential Requirements: Due Process Requirements for American National Standards and ANSI Procedures for the National Adoption of ISO and IEC Standards as American National Standards, sets forth the policies and procedures for the consensus development of IAPMO national standards, for composition, dimensions, and mechanical and physical properties of materials, fixtures, devices, and equipment used or installed in plumbing, building, or mechanical systems. Note: In this document, IAPMO consensus American National Standards are referred to as "standards".

#### 0.2

These *Policies and Procedures* supersede previous editions, published in January 2015, July 2014, June 2013, August 2012, May 2011, January 2011, and November 2005.

#### 0.3

In these Policies and Procedures,

- (a) "shall" is used to express a requirement, i.e., a provision that the user is obliged to satisfy to comply with this document;
- (b) "should" is used to express a recommendation but not a requirement;
- (c) "may" is used to express an option or something permissible within the scope of this document; and
- (d) "can" is used to express a possibility or a capability.

# 1. General

# 1.1 American National Standards Developer Accreditation

IAPMO shall maintain their ANSI accreditation by being an incorporated legal entity, and complying to ANSI's procedural requirements and criteria for approval and withdrawal of American National Standards in accordance with Section 4.1 of the ANSI Essential Requirements.

#### 1.2 Administration

These *Policies and Procedures* shall govern the activities of the International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials (IAPMO) related to the development, approval, revision, reaffirmation, and withdrawal of standards.

#### 1.3 Maintenance of Standards

Reaffirmations, revisions, or withdrawal of standards shall be completed within 5 years from their approval as American National Standards, in accordance with Section 4.7 of the ANSI Essential Requirements or Section 4.0 of the ANSI Procedures for the National Adoption of ISO and IEC Standards as American National Standards.

# 1.4 National Adoption of ISO or IEC Standards

National adoption of ISO or IEC standards shall comply with this document and the *ANSI Procedures for the National Adoption of ISO and IEC Standards as American National Standards*. An expedited development procedure shall be permitted for identical adoption to the ISO or IEC standards in accordance with the *ANSI Procedures for the National Adoption of ISO and IEC Standards as American National Standards*.

# 2. Organization of Standards Committees

#### 2.1 Standards Committees

Standards committees (i.e., consensus bodies, as described in the ANSI Essential Requirements), shall

- (a) be established by IAPMO;
- (b) be responsible for developing and maintaining standards within IAPMO's scope of accreditation;
- (c) have a sufficiently diverse membership to ensure reasonable balance (see Section 3.4); and
- (d) not be dominated by any single interest group (see Sections 3.3 and 3.4).

# 2.2 Secretariat

IAPMO shall be responsible for maintaining the secretariat for the standards committees. The Secretariat shall

- (a) organize the standards committees;
- (b) provide administrative support, including secretarial services;
- (c) process membership applications and notification of employment changes (see Sections 3.2 and 2.5.12);
- (d) determine the size of the standards committees (see Section 3.6);
- (e) approve appointments of alternates (see Section 3.8);
- (f) maintain all records pertaining to the standards committees, including committee activities and membership rosters of standards committees, subcommittees, and task groups (see Section 3.10);
- (g) issue formal notifications (see Section 4.1);
- (h) offer standards for public review (see Section 5);
- (i) issue and administer ballots, conduct recorded votes at meetings, and participate in the resolution and disposition of negatives and late ballots (see Sections 6.1, 6.3, 6.6, and 6.8);
- (j) publish approved standards and revisions thereto;
- (k) process interpretations (see Section 7);
- (I) oversee compliance with these *Policies and Procedures*, including legal review as necessary;
- (m) process appeals (see Section 8);
- (n) process revisions to these *Policies* and *Procedures* (see Section 11); and
- (o) perform other administrative functions as necessary.

#### 2.3 Official Records

#### 2.3.1 Availability

Standards committee records shall be available for directly and materially interested parties, subject to reasonable conditions of time, location, cost, and convenience.

#### 2.3.2 Retention

Records related to new, revised, or reaffirmed standards shall be retained for at least one complete standards cycle (i.e., until the standard is revised, withdrawn, or reaffirmed). Records related to withdrawn standards shall be retained for at least five years from the date of withdrawal.

#### 2.4 Executive Standards Committee

The IAPMO Executive Standards Committee shall

- (a) consist of the Vice President of Codes and Standards Development, Chief Operating Officer, and an IAPMO Representative;
- (b) revise and approve these *Policies and Procedures* (see Section 11);
- (c) govern the standards committees, which includes:
  - (i) appointing standards committee officers (see Section 3.5);
  - (ii) appointing and categorizing standards committee members (see Sections 3.2 and 3.3);
  - (iii) terminating standards committee members (see Section 3.11); and
  - (iv) conducting periodic reviews of the standards committee membership, considering expertise, balance, geographical representation, and individual contributions, and taking into account changes in the nature of the committee's scope and changes in the interests of its members.

# 2.5 Correspondence

# 2.5.1 Confidentiality

All standards committee correspondence shall be considered privileged and confidential and shall not be used for publication or reference.

#### 2.5.2 Standards Committee Correspondence

Correspondence from a standards committee or subcommittee member to the entire membership shall be forwarded to the Secretariat for approval and distribution. All official standards committee and subcommittee correspondence (e.g., meeting notices, agendas, reports and ballots) shall be distributed by the Secretariat. Copies of all correspondence between standards committee and subcommittee members, related to IAPMO standards activities shall be forwarded to the Secretariat.

#### 2.5.3 External Correspondence

Inquiries related to the standards committees and standards shall be directed to the Secretariat. Standards committee members should advise individuals who contact them that responses to all inquiries are handled by the Secretariat.

# 3. Membership

#### 3.1 General

Membership on standards committees shall be open to all stakeholders, subject to the procedures in Sections 3.2 to 3.13.

**Note:** A stakeholder is an individual, group, or organization that is or will be directly and demonstrably affected by a standard.

# 3.2 Applications and Appointments

# 3.2.1 Application

Individuals seeking membership on a standards committee shall submit a written request to the Secretariat indicating their interest in the work of the standards committee and their qualifications, willingness to participate, and affiliation(s) that might affect their classification. Applicants shall identify their interest category (see Section 3.3).

#### 3.2.2 Process

The Secretariat shall promptly process all membership applications and notify the applicants and the standards committees of the actions taken on applications and their right to appeal (see Section 8).

#### 3.2.3 Considerations

In accepting or rejecting applicants, consideration shall be given to the following:

- (a) need for active participation by members of each interest group;
- (b) balance of members for each interest group;
- (c) potential for dominance by members of a single interest group;
- (d) extent of interest expressed by the applicant and willingness to participate; and
- (e) qualifications and ability to materially contribute to the work of the standards committee.

#### 3.2.4 Appointments

Following consideration of the applications, the Executive Standards Committee, upon consideration of recommendations from the respective standards committee chairperson, shall decide whether the applicant should be appointed as a member or not (i.e., accept or reject the application).

#### 3.2.5 Term

Members shall be appointed for 2-year terms and be eligible for reappointment.

# 3.3 Interest Categories

#### 3.3.1 Classification

All members of standards committees shall be classified by the Executive Standards Committee,

- (a) upon consideration of recommendations from the respective standards committee chairperson;
- (b) based on the member's predominant interest in the activities of the committee; and
- (c) in accordance with the interest categories defined in Section 3.3.2.

#### 3.3.2 Definitions

The interest categories shall be defined as follows:

- (a) Producer (Manufacturer) Interest this category shall include those who are predominantly involved in the production (i.e., manufacture), promotion, retailing, or distribution of the subject products, materials, or services (e.g., manufacturers, distributors, licensors, developers, associations of any of these groups, and professional consultants to any of these groups).
- (b) *User Interest* this category shall include those who are subject to the provisions of the standards or who voluntarily use the standards (e.g., testing laboratories, certification bodies, regulatory agencies, and standards developing organizations).
- (c) General Interest this category shall include those who are neither producers nor users (e.g., academics, consumers, contractors and subcontractors, construction labor organizations, educators, researchers, and technical societies).

#### 3.3.3 Consultants

Individuals retained as consultants under an indefinitely continuing agreement with an organization shall be classified in accordance with the category of the retaining organization.

# 3.4 Balance of Representation

To ensure that standards committees have balanced representation, no single interest category shall constitute a majority of the voting membership of a standards committee.

# 3.5 Standards Committee Officers

#### 3.5.1 Appointment

Each standards committee shall have a Chairperson and a Vice Chairperson appointed/recommended by the Executive Standards Committee.

#### 3.5.2 Term

Standards committee officers shall be appointed for 2-year terms and are eligible for reappointment.

# 3.6 Size of Standards Committees

The Secretariat shall determine the size of each standards committee (minimums and maximums) to ensure that

- (a) all necessary interests are adequately represented;
- (b) balance of representation is maintained; and
- (c) the standards committee is able to function efficiently.

**Note:** Efforts should be made to ensure that all interests are adequately represented.

# 3.7 Participation

Participation on standards committees shall not be conditional upon membership in any organization and shall not be unreasonably restricted on the basis of technical qualifications or other such requirements.

#### 3.8 Alternates

Committee members may appoint standing alternates subject to the approval of the Secretariat. The alternate's expertise should correspond to the member's interest category. Each alternate shall represent only one voting member.

Note: An alternate is an individual authorized to act for a member of a committee in that member's absence.

# 3.9 Representation of Organizations

There shall be no more than one voting member from any given company or organization on any given standards committee.

#### 3.10 Ongoing Maintenance and Reporting

The Secretariat shall

- (a) maintain membership rosters documenting the classification of each member and demonstrating balance; and
- (b) review the membership rosters at least annually and recommend changes as necessary to the Executive Standards Committee [see Section 2.4(c)(iv)].

# 3.11 Termination of Membership

The Executive Standards Committee may terminate the membership of an individual on a standards committee for cause, including inactivity. A standards committee member shall be considered inactive for failure to:

- (a) return two successive ballots; or
- (b) attend at least one standards committee, subcommittee, or task group meeting in a three-year period.

# 3.12 Changes in Employment or Affiliation

#### 3.12.1

Standards committee members shall notify the Secretariat of any changes in employment or affiliation affecting his or her categorization and shall submit a new application if continued membership on the standards committee is desired. The application shall be processed in accordance with Section 3.2.

#### 3.12.2

The continued participation of a previously appointed alternate shall be reviewed at the same time as that of the member changing affiliation or employment.

#### 3.13 Subcommittees and Task Groups

Subcommittees and task groups may be established by standards committees for assisting with the development of standards or portions of standards as well as providing advice.

- (a) Membership on subcommittees may include persons who are not members of the standards committees.
- (b) Balance of representation shall not be required for subcommittees (see Section 3.4).
- (c) Subcommittee chairpersons
  - (i) shall be appointed by the standards committee chairperson and/or the Secretariat; and
  - (ii) may be members of the standards committee.
- (d) Subcommittee members may be appointed by the subcommittee chairperson, with the concurrence of the Secretariat.
- (e) Subcommittees shall be merged or disbanded by the responsible standards committee, with the concurrence of the Secretariat.

#### Notes:

- 1. Subcommittees are permanent (standing) committees of individuals with expertise in a particular subject area.
- 2. Task groups are established for specific assignments and continue to exist only until the assignment is completed.

# 4. Meetings

#### 4.1 Notification

Written notices for meetings of standards committees shall be given at least 14 days in advance of the meetings. An agenda shall be prepared by the Secretariat and distributed prior to the meeting. Documentation related to issues to be discussed at meetings shall be distributed at least 3 days before the meeting.

# 4.2 Guests (Open Meetings)

Except for standards committee executive sessions (see Section 4.3), all meetings of standards committees shall be open and attendance by any interested party shall be welcome. Guests

- (a) shall not have the right to vote;
- (b) shall be entitled to receive copies of meeting reports if requested in writing; and
- (c) should be allowed to address the standards committee at meetings.

#### 4.3 Executive Sessions

Standards committee executive sessions shall be held for considering administrative, financial, and other sensitive issues not related to the technical content of any standards or the disposition of ballots or public comments. Attendance at executive sessions shall be limited to committee members and the Secretariat.

# 4.4 Quorum

More than 50% of the members of a standards committee or a subcommittee (or their alternates) shall constitute a quorum for conducting business at a meeting. Decisions and motions shall be considered approved or carried if the affirmative votes are in accordance with Section 6.4. If a quorum is not present, decisions taken at a meeting shall not be final and shall be subject to ratification by those voting members not in attendance, by one of the following means:

- (a) the Secretariat conducting a poll following the meeting;
- (b) a ballot; or
- (c) adding the item(s) to the agenda for the next meeting and having the decision ratified at that time.

# 4.5 Parliamentary Procedures

On questions of parliamentary procedure, Robert's Rules of Order shall apply.

# 5. Notifications and Public Review

#### 5.1 Notifications of Standards Activities

Notification of standards activities shall be done in accordance with Section 2.5 of the *ANSI Essential Requirements*.

- (a) Initiation for development of new American National Standards or revision of existing American National Standards shall be submitted to ANSI using the PINS form for listing in *Standards Action* for public comment in accordance with Section 2.5.1 of the *ANSI Essential Requirements*. A PINS form may be submitted, but is not required at the initiation of a project to reaffirm or withdraw an American National Standard. Prompt address shall be given to comments relating to conflict and duplication from the PINS announcement or public comment listing in Standards Action.
- (b) Proposals for new American National Standards or reaffirmation, revision, or withdrawal of existing American National Standards shall be submitted to ANSI using the ANSI BSR-8 form for listing in Standards Action for public comment<sup>1</sup>.

- (c) If substantive changes are made to a draft standard subsequent to public review, those substantive changes shall be subjected to an additional public review, in accordance with Item (a). The Secretariat shall determine whether listing of proposed standards actions shall be concurrent with the final standards committee ballot and whether announcement in other suitable media is appropriate.
- (d) Once a standard has undergone complete due process and is ready for publication, an ANSI BSR-9 form (for approval/withdrawal of American National Standards) shall be submitted to ANSI.
- (e) All PINS, BSR-8, and BSR-9 forms will be completed correctly, and along with all ballot related ANSI will be filed and stored electronically by IAPMO staff within IAPMO Standard's dedicated computer share drives. A second IAPMO staff member will be informed to double check and confirm the proper filing of all said documents.

Note: A standards project or portion thereof may be discontinued at IAPMO's own discretion and without vote from the relevant consensus body. In so doing, IAPMO must notify ANSI immediately of such actions for announcement in ANSI's Standards Action.

# 5.2 Processing of Public Review Comments

#### 5.2.1

All comments received during the public review period shall be considered by the standards committee and each commenter shall be notified, in writing, of the standards committee's decisions regarding the resolution and disposition of their comments. All unresolved objectors will be informed in writing of their right to appeal (see Section 8).

#### 5.2.2

Comments not technical in nature or not related to the matters being offered for public review shall be ruled non-germane.

<sup>1</sup>Although a 60-day public comment period is not required in all instances, a number of provisions in the *ANSI Essential Requirements*, when read in combination, satisfy the WTO's 60-day rule. Before adopting a standard, ANSI-Accredited Standards Developers shall allow a period of at least 60 days in total for submission of comments on the draft standard if requested by an interested party within the territory of a Member of the WTO. Exceptions outlined in the rule are permitted due to issues of safety, health or environment. (See *WTO Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade (TBT), Annex 3 Code of Good Practice for the Preparation, Adoption and Application of Standards (CGP) Substantive Provision L.)* 

#### 5.2.3

Comments ruled non-persuasive or non-germane shall be considered resolved if, within 7 calendar days of receiving a notification, the commenter does not respond in writing indicating that he or she wishes to have the comment reported to ANSI as unresolved. IAPMO will comply with section 5.2.3 of its procedures in responding to public review commenters when it receives public review comments. In addition, IAPMO will not consider an objection received from public review "resolved" unless the following occurs:

- (a) The commenter receives a response letter with the appropriate language contained in section 5.2.3 and does not respond by the deadline; or
- (b) The person responds in writing that they are "resolved."

#### 5.2.4

Comments received after the public review period has closed shall be considered in the same manner as new proposals for the next revision cycle.

# 6. Voting Procedures

# 6.1 Ballots

Approval, revision, reaffirmation, withdrawal, substantial changes, interpretations, and withdrawal of standards shall be approved by ballots or recorded votes of the standards committees. The Secretariat shall issue and canvass ballots. All voting members have the obligation to vote, and votes may be cast by the members or their alternates.

#### 6.2 Voting

Each voting member shall vote using one of the following four options:

- (a) **Affirmative**: when the technical content of the draft is acceptable as presented.
- (b) **Affirmative with comment**: when the technical content of the draft is acceptable and no substantive changes are required, except for editorial changes or clarifications.
- (c) **Negative with reasons**: when the technical content of the draft is deemed unacceptable, in error, or incomplete. Negative votes shall be supported with reasons. Whenever possible, the negative voter shall include specific actions to resolve the negative and change the vote to affirmative.
- (d) Abstain.

# **6.3** Voting Period

#### 6.3.1 Ballots

Except for recirculation ballots, the time allotted to reply to a ballot shall be at least 21 calendar days\*. The time allotted to reply to a recirculation ballot shall be at least 7 calendar days. A reminder notice shall be sent out prior to the closing date. Ballots may be closed before the closing date if all the members of the consensus body cast their votes before the closing date. If at the closing date there are insufficient returns to meet the numerical criteria for approval, an extension of the voting period may be made by the Secretariat.

\*The recommended voting period for ballots other than recirculation ballots is 30 calendar days.

#### 6.3.2 Recorded Votes

Recorded votes may be taken at standards committee meetings and shall be conducted by the Secretariat. A notice of the recorded vote shall be issued at least 21 calendar days prior to the meeting, and a copy of the standard shall be included with the notice. Decisions shall be properly documented and changes to the standard made at the meeting shall be acceptable, provided they receive the necessary affirmative votes (see Section 6.4). Members who are not able to attend a meeting where a recorded vote is going to be taken shall be given the opportunity to vote before or up to 7 days after the meeting.

# 6.4 Numerical Criteria for Approvals

#### 6.4.1

To meet the numerical criteria for approval, revision, reaffirmation, and withdrawal of standards, affirmative votes cast shall constitute

- (a) more than 50% of the total voting membership; and
- (b) at least two-thirds of the votes cast, excluding abstentions and negatives without reasons.

**Note:** The minimum number of affirmative votes required for approvals is the greater of more than 1/2 of the total voting membership or 2/3 of the votes cast.

#### 6.4.2

Approvals, revisions, reaffirmations, and withdrawals of standards shall require, in addition to the numerical requirements of Section 6.4.1, that all negative votes with reasons be resolved in accordance with Section 6.6.

# 6.5 Ballot Records and Vote Changes

#### 6.5.1

Ballot results (together with the reasons for and disposition of any negative votes) shall be properly documented and recorded in such a manner that each member's vote is identified. Ballot reports should include at least the following statistics:

- (a) number of voting members;
- (b) number of voting members voting affirmatively;
- (c) number of voting members voting negative with reasons;
- (d) number of voting members voting negative without reasons;
- (e) number of voting members abstaining; and
- (f) number of voting members not returning ballots.

#### 6.5.2

Any and all any requested subsequent changes in vote from a consensus body member will be made in writing for documentation and record keeping purposes; Otherwise, such requested changes will not be accepted.

# 6.6 Negative Votes

#### 6.6.1

Negative votes which are not accompanied by reasons shall be recorded as "negative without reasons" and no further action shall be necessary. An attempt to resolve all negative votes with reasons shall be made and dispositioned by the standards committee chairperson and/or the Secretariat by taking one or more of the following actions:

- (a) Attempt to resolve the negative vote directly with the voter and have the negative vote changed to affirmative.
  - **Note:** Only the negative voter can change his or her vote to affirmative.
- (b) Rule the negative vote non-persuasive if the reasons for the vote have previously been considered and not accepted by the standards committee. Such decision shall be supported by committee records.

**Note:** A negative vote that has been ruled non-persuasive shall not be counted as affirmative unless the negative voter revises his or her vote to affirmative.

- (c) Rule the negative vote non-germane if
  - (i) it is not accompanied by supporting reasons; or
  - (ii) the supporting reasons are not relevant to the items being balloted.
  - **Note:** Non-germane votes shall be considered as not cast for the two-thirds affirmative votes' requirement in Section 6.4.1(b).
- (d) Refer the negative vote to the standards committee if the particular reasons for the vote have not previously been considered by the committee, if the negative vote was cast by the chairperson, or if the vote has not been dispositioned in accordance with Items (a) to (c).

#### 6.6.2

For negative votes referred by the chairperson and/or the Secretariat, the standards committee may rule that:

- (a) The negative vote is persuasive and should be accepted. In this event,
  - (i) the change(s) to the standard shall be approved through a new ballot or a recorded vote at a meeting; and
  - (ii) with the concurrence of the voter, the vote shall be reclassified as affirmative.
- (b) The negative vote is persuasive but should be considered as future business. In this case, with the concurrence of the voter, the vote shall be reclassified as affirmative.
- (c) The negative vote is non-persuasive. The reasons for this decision shall be documented.
- (d) The standard should be put on hold for further study.

#### 6.6.3

In all cases, the rulings and technical changes to the standards shall be confirmed by ballot or recorded vote and properly documented.

#### 6.6.4

When a negative vote is ruled non-germane or non-persuasive, the negative voter shall be notified, in writing, of the action, supporting rationale, and the right to appeal (see Section 8).

# 6.6.5

Unresolved objections, attempted resolutions to negative votes, and substantive changes made in a draft standard shall be reported to the appropriate standards committee to afford all members of that standards committee an opportunity to respond, confirm, or change their vote.

# 6.7 Comments Accompanying Affirmative Votes and Abstentions

Standards committees shall review comments accompanying affirmative votes and should include them on the agenda for consideration at a subsequent meeting of the standards committee or subcommittee.

#### 6.8 Late Votes

Negative votes submitted after the closing date of a ballot (including authorized extensions) should be considered new business and not delay the publication of the standard, unless the standards committee chairperson and/or the Secretariat decide otherwise.

# 7. Interpretations

#### 7.1 Definition

An interpretation is a written clarification of the meaning of a specific provision(s) of a standard, as determined by the standards committee in response to a written request for an interpretation. Requests for interpretation should be clear and unambiguous and phrased in such a way that a "yes" or "no" answer will address the issue. In addition, requests for interpretation should include

- (a) the edition of the standard for which the interpretation is being requested;
- (b) the definition of the problem, making reference to the specific section of the standard and, when appropriate, an illustrative sketch explaining the question; and
- (c) an explanation of circumstances surrounding the actual field conditions.

# 7.2 Processing Interpretations

Requests for interpretations of standards shall be submitted in writing to the Secretariat and shall be forwarded to the chairperson. Proposed interpretations may be prepared by the chairperson or another standards committee member with expertise on the particular subject. All proposed interpretations shall be prepared in writing and shall be submitted for ballot to the standards committee. Interpretations shall be approved in accordance with the criteria in Section 6.4.

# 7.3 Accepting Requests for Interpretation

Requests for interpretation shall not be accepted if the

- (a) matter is known to be before the courts or an administrative tribunal; or
- (b) requests refer to
  - (i) a superseded or withdrawn standard; or
  - (ii) notes or informative appendices.

# 7.4 Notification of Interpretations

Notification of interpretations shall be sent in writing to the requester and the standards committee and shall also be published through technical journals and other appropriate means.

# 8. Appeals (Dispute Resolution)

#### 8.1 Process

Persons who have been or might be affected by any standards committee action or inaction shall have the right to appeal such action or inaction in accordance with the appeal procedures within Section 2.8 of the ANSI Essential Requirements. The appellant shall file a written appeal with the Secretariat within 21 days of the date of notification of any action or, at any time, with respect to any action to which the appellant was not given notice or with respect to inaction. The written appeal shall state

- (a) its nature;
- (b) the procedures or the sections of the standard(s) that are at issue;
- (c) the action(s) or inaction at issue; and
- (d) the specific remedial action(s) that would satisfy the appellant's concerns.

# 8.2 Response

Within 30 days of the receipt of the appeal, the Secretariat shall

- (a) respond in writing to the appellant, addressing each topic in the appeal to the extent possible; and
- (b) attempt to resolve, informally and directly with the appellant, the appeal.

# 8.3 Appeals Panel

If the Secretariat is unable to informally resolve the appeal, it shall appoint an appeals panel to hold a hearing on a date agreeable to all participants, with at least 15 days' notice. The appeals panel shall consist of three individuals who have not been directly involved in the dispute and who will not be materially affected by any decision made regarding the dispute. At least two members of the panel shall be acceptable to the appellant and at least two shall be acceptable to the Secretariat. If the parties cannot agree on the composition of the panel within 15 days, the Executive Standards Committee shall appoint the appeals panel.

# 8.4 Conduct of the Hearing

The appellant shall be responsible for demonstrating improper action(s) or inaction(s), the adverse effects derived from such action(s) or inaction(s), and the efficacy of the requested remedial action.

#### 8.5 Decision

The appeals panel shall render its decision in writing, within 30 days, stating its findings of fact and conclusions, with reasons therefore and citing the evidence. The Secretariat shall notify the appellant and the standards committee of the decision of the appeals panel, which shall be binding and final.

# 9. Commercial, Antitrust, Metric, and Patent Policies

# 9.1 Antitrust Policy

IAPMO shall comply with the current ANSI antitrust policy.

#### 9.2 Commercial Terms and Conditions

IAPMO shall comply with the current ANSI commercial terms and conditions policy.

# 9.3 Patent Policy

Participants in the IAPMO ANSI standards development process are encouraged to bring patents with claims believed to be essential to the attention of IAPMO. IAPMO shall comply with the current ANSI patent policy.

# 9.4 Metric Policy

Standards shall be developed using SI (metric) units followed by inch/pound units in parentheses.

# 10. Coordination and Harmonization

#### 10.1 Reference

Good faith efforts shall be made to resolve potential conflicts between and among existing American National Standards and candidate American National Standards.

# 10.2 Definition of Conflict

Conflict within the American National Standards process refers to a situation where, viewed from the perspective of a future implementer, the terms of one standard are inconsistent or incompatible with the terms of the other standard such that implementation of one standard under terms allowable under that standard would preclude proper implementation of the other standard in accordance with its terms.

#### 10.3 Standards Committees and ANSI

Standards committees shall make a good-faith effort to resolve potential conflicts and to coordinate standardization activities intended to result in harmonized American National Standards. A "good faith" effort shall require substantial, thorough, and comprehensive efforts to harmonize a candidate and existing American National Standards, and shall include, at minimum, compliance with all relevant sections of these *Policies and Procedures*. Standards committees shall retain evidence of such efforts in order to demonstrate compliance with this requirement to the satisfaction of the appropriate ANSI body.

# 11. Revisions to IAPMO Policies and Procedures

# 11.1 Proposals

Proposals to revise these *Policies and Procedures* shall be submitted to the Secretariat in writing with the supporting rationale. The Secretariat shall submit the proposed revision(s) to the standards committees for comment and, subsequently, submit the proposed revisions and comments to the Executive Standards Committee for resolution and approval.

# 11.2 Approval and Implementation

The Secretariat shall notify the standards committees of approved changes and revisions to these *Policies* and *Procedures*.